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Executive Summary

154 Victoria Street has been nominated for inclusion on the Wellington City Council
Schedule of Historic Heritage Buildings. An evaluation of the building’s values shows
it to have significant historical value as a rare brick industrial building comprising of a
warehouse and offices, with high integrity. Its principal values lie in the significant
group value with 95 Dixon Street, and in the townscape value of the building and
group. The overall heritage value of this group is very high as it illustrates the original
scale and type of industrial development in this area of Te Aro in the late 1800s.

154 Victoria Street is a four-storey (three-storey and a basement) brick warehouse
built in 1899 for E.H Crease & Son.?2 The company had outgrown their premises on
Customhouse Street and acquired the site on corner of Dixon and Quinn Streets.® It
was reported in the Evening Post in 1898 that the four-storied high building would be
fitted with the latest machinery and the plans were being prepared by Messrs McKay
and McGregor, who were inviting tenders for the work.* The brick warehouse tender
was won and built by builder James Russell.®

It is recommended that the industrial building at 154 Victoria Street be listed on the
Wellington City Council District Plan to ensure that its cultural heritage values both
individually, and as a group with the proximal two-storeyed Edwardian-styled brick
warehouse at 95 Dixon Street, are retained. The listing should encompass the
exterior form, scale and materials of the building including the roof and the primary
structure of the building internally. A heritage assessment of the interior be carried
out prior to any future works.

Summary Statement of Significance

154 Victoria Street is rare example of a Victorian commercial building in the Te Aro
area. It has significant historical and integrity value as an 1890s surviving industrial
building of the era. The building was designed as a factory and workshop during a
period of economic prosperity from the late 1890s.

154 Victoria Street is one of a few remaining industrial buildings on the original Town
Acre 172 and has significant historic value. It was once part of a group of buildings
that included residences, commercial, hotels, and pubs as a response to an increase
in the development of land and sea trade routes. The overall heritage value of this
group is significant as early development in this area of Te Aro was low scale; this
warehouse would have made an architectural statement in its size and design.

2“Quinnn Street [154-156 Victoria Street], Brick Warehouse and Boiler House.”
3 “Finance and Trade,” 1898.
4 “Local and General,” 1898.
5 “Local and General,” 1899.
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Purpose

The purpose of this document is to consider the building located at 154 Victoria Street,
Wellington against Wellington City Council’s criteria for evaluation of historic heritage.

The document has been prepared by NZ Heritage Properties and Alison Breese on
the specific instructions of our client, Wellington City Council. It is intended solely for
the use by Wellington City Council in accordance with the agreed scope of work.

Scope

This report is a desktop study based on online resources and material digitised from
the Wellington City Council Archives.

The chronology of the site was pieced together using primary sources such as Papers
Past, Wellington City Council Archives, and Land Information NZ records.

o>+
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Heritage Inventory Report

Site Detall

Site address or address(es) and/or
location

154 Victoria Street

Property Name

Other names

Kapiti Customs House

Legal Description(s) and Record of
Title identifier(s), Deeds register
and/or Gate notice information

Pt Lot 1 DP 30657

NZTM grid reference

NZTM_E 1748579, NZTM_N 5427347

District Plan Reference Number

Not listed

Sites of significance to Maori None
WCC Heritage Area None
HNZPT listed Not listed

HNZPT category

Archaeological site (Heritage New
Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014,
Section 6)

Potential - Central City NZAA R27/270.
Pre-1900 building., so considered
archaeological. There were earlier
buildings on the site.

New Zealand Archaeological
Association (NZAA) site record
number(s)

NZAA Central City Archaeological Area
R27/270.

Constructed

1899

Significant alterations or additions

Architect

McKay & MacGregor

Builder

James Russell

Former uses

Commercial Building (warehouse and
offices)

Current uses

Commercial Building (warehouse and
offices

Earthquake-prone Building Status at
the date of assessment.

NO005410
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Extent: WCC Onemap September 2021
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Historical Summary

Land History

Wellington’s nearly circular harbour (about 10 kilometres in diameter) began as a
shallow basin between two tilted land blocks. Repeated uplifting along the
Wellington Fault raised the block on the western side, creating a cliff from
Thorndon to the Hutt Valley. The block to the east tilted down towards the fault,
creating a depression that later filled with water.®

6 Adkins, “The Great Harbour of Tara. Traditional Place Names and Sites of Wellington Harbour and
Environs.”
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Matiu (Somes Island) and Makaro (Ward Island) are the exposed peaks of a
submerged ridge running parallel with the extensive ridges of Miramar Peninsula
and Hataitai.

The area which became Wellington, Te Whanganui-a-Tara (or Port Nicholson as
the New Zealand Company called it) had been occupied for centuries by various
Maori groups.” Two tribes of Ngai Tara (in the Wellington area from c1405-1650)
and Ngati Ira (in the Wellington area until 1829) amalgamated and became known
as Ngati Ira. Ngati Ira were the inhabitants of Te Whanganui-a-Tara and its
environs including Porirua and the area up the Kapiti Coast.2 The principal chief
of Ngati Ira in the late 1810s, Whanake and his son Te Kekerengu both lived on
the west coast of Wellington near Porirua Harbour.

Incoming tribes from far to the north of Wellington area began to push out Ngati
Ira and they faced consistent pressure as an influx of people continued from
western Waikato and Taranaki.® Many war parties and migration of other tribes,
such as Ngapuhi, Ngati Whatua, and Ngati Toa, drove the last remaining Ngati Ira
out of the area.l® Ngati Toa and its allies defeated Ngati Ira and gained
ascendency over the Kapiti Coast in 1824, although some Ngati Ira continued to
live at Porirua.!! By 1840, the groups holding customary rights within the Port
Nicholson block were complex with Te Atiawa, Taranaki, Ngati Ruanui, Ngati
Tama, and Ngati Toa all claiming rights. These rights had been established
through conquest, occupation, and use of resources.

It was in this complex setting that in 1839, the New Zealand Company chose
Wellington’s Port Nicholson as the site for its first settlement of British immigrants.
Their aim was to purchase land in the district for an English settlement.*?

Te Aro

Te Aro is an inner-city suburb of Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington, Aotearoa New
Zealand. It comprises the southern part of the central business district including
the majority of the city's entertainment district and covers the mostly flat area of
city between The Terrace and Cambridge Terrace at the base of Matairangi
Mount Victoria.

7 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.”
8 Murray, “A History of Tawa.”

9 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.”
10 Murray, “A History of Tawa.”

1 Murray.

12 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.”
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Te Aro has a long history of occupation and development, and the harbour,
shoreline, wetlands and surrounding areas supported several settlements
including Te Aro Kainga and the Puke-ahu Pa. The area was subdivided in 1840
by the New Zealand Company’s Chief Surveyor Captain William Mein Smith, and
the acquisition of this land — most particularly the subdivision of Te Aro Kainga —
was one of many controversial actions of the New Zealand Company in
Wellington. By the end of the nineteenth century Te Aro was a densely populated
city-fringe suburb, predominated by working class housing. By the early twentieth
century, the area was considered overcrowded, and this led in part to the
popularity of the new suburbs that soon developed with the introduction of the
electric tram network. Te Aro became more important as a transport route, and
suited to factories and light industry. Te Aro fell into decline and by at least the
1930s, had been declared a slum and proposed for redevelopment.*3

Section 172

The land was identified on the original 1841 Town Acre Map of Wellington as 172
and the subiject site is part of Lot 1 on Pt Section 172.

As the population of Te Aro increased, owners subdivided land, creating narrow
access ways, such as Quin Street and Howe’s Lane near 95 Dixon Street.* Quin
Street, a small lane, ran off Dixon Street and comprised of sections 171, 172 and
173. It began as a "fashionable quarter” with military officers and other notable
inhabitants of Wellington living there, but soon descending into notoriety. From
the 1880s the locality became described as "shady" and as an “unsavoury
locality” in local newspapers.'® The area appears repeatedly in local newspapers
from the 1860s, particularly the court news, for its residents were charged with
violence, prostitution, stealing and other crimes. Michael Quin, who owned
property intersected by the thoroughfare, and gave the road his own name and
the lane was known as ‘Maori Row’ and ‘Quin Street’ interchangeably.

Michael Quin was a blacksmith and farrier whose business was in the block and
he also owned many residential cottages that he leased in Maori Row.1® The area

13 “5-7 Garrett Street, Te Aro Public Report.”

14 Menzies, “Progress’ v ‘Preservation’ - A History of Te Aro, Wellington.”

15 Wairarapa Daily Times, Volume LIX, Issue 9936, 5 August 1908, Page 7,
https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/WDT19080805.2.49 and New Zealand Times, Volume
XLI, Issue 6980, 5 October 1883, Page 5,
https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/NZTIM18831005.2.53

16 New Zealand Mail, Issue 1741, 12 July 1905, Page 70,
https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/NZMAIL19050712.2.172
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was considered a slum area with many old cottages ordered to be pulled down by
Wellington City Council as being deemed insanitary.t’

Section 172 is recorded as owned by Michael Quin from 1857 and the property
was sold to E.H. Crease & Son in 1898 after Quin’s death in 1892.

The immediate vicinity around 154 Victoria Street was working class, with a
number of Edwardian buildings already in the area at the time 154 Victoria Street
was constructed. From the 1900s the area became an area more ideally suited
for factories and light industry, rather than housing as increased transport routes
encourage people to move out to the suburbs.'®'® The Edwardian character was
strong in the areas of Dixon Street and nearby Cuba Street, with many buildings
surviving in Cuba Street today.

Te Aro is noted as one of the few remaining physical examples of working-class
life and culture in Aotearoa New Zealand, with a diverse working-class population.
Buildings that are representative of these kinds of working class and industrial
activities are now rare in the Te Aro area. The building has historic value,
primarily because it has had an ordinary history, typical of both the area and the
kinds of uses it was put to. This makes it important that efforts are made to
preserve its heritage.!®

154 Victoria Street

The part of Victoria Street between Dixon Street and Ghuznee Street was known
as Quin(n) Street?® in 1892 and Sturdee Street in 1925. Earlier still it was known
as "Maori Row," and as "Sutton Row."?*

The land was identified on the original 1841 Town Acre Map of Wellington as 172
and the subiject site is part of Lot 1 on Pt Section 172. 154 Victoria Street is one of
two structures on this site. The land at section 172 was originally corner of Quin
Street and Dixon Street. The corner area has been altered with realignment with
former Herbert Street, providing a landscaped buffer zone to the primary
elevation. Quin Street became known as Sturdee Street from around 1925 and
then later in the 1970s, as Victoria Street when that street was extended.

17 ‘Insanitary Dwellings’, New Zealand Malil, 5 April 1900, p 48,
https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/NZMAIL19000405.2.105

18 Menzies, “Progress’ v ‘Preservation’ - A History of Te Aro, Wellington.”

19 Menzies, “Progress’ v ‘Preservation’ - A History of Te Aro, Wellington.”

20 after Morton Quinn, one of the members of the City Council elected for 1870-71
21 Irvine-Smith, “The Streets of My City, Wellington, New Zealand.”

o>+

Wellington City Council | 10 of 54


https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/NZMAIL19000405.2.105

154 Victoria Street, September 2021

This building, a four-storey commercial warehouse, was designed by Messrs
McKay and MacGregor in 1899 for coffee, spice and conserve manufacturer E.H.
Crease & Son.?? E.H. Crease & Son had purchased the land, part of Town Acre
172, from ex-City Councillor Michael Quin in 1898.22 The warehouse was built as
they had grown too large for their old premises at Customhouse Quay. %*

E.H. Crease and Son was established in 1867 by E.H. Crease.?® The business
expanded over the next few decades, and by the late nineteenth century
imported, packed and manufactured “Coffees, Peppers, Spices; Essences, Peels,
Oils, Sauces, Indian Condiments and Baking Powder.”?® They also held patents
for milk and meat preservatives. Prior to building the warehouse, the firm
occupied a two-storey wooden building on Victoria Street.

The construction of the large factory and warehouse was reported in the
newspapers. “The premises will be four stories high and will be fitted with all the
latest machinery. The preparation of the plans and specifications has been
entrusted to Messrs. McKay and McGregor, who are inviting tenders for the work.
The buildings, which are to be erected in four months, are to be lighted by gas”.?’
The tender was won by Mr James Russell. A journalist was invited to report on the
building:

The building has a frontage of 100 feet and a depth of 50 feet and consists of
three stories and a cellar. In a detached building is fitted up an engine and boner
for generating steam for drying, bottle-cleaning and various other purposes.

The ground floor is partly occupied by machinery; here the coffee and spice mills
may be seen at work, the motor power being furnished by a 12 h.p. gas engine.
On one side are an excellent suite of offices, a sample room and a strong room.

Adjacent to the sample room there is a delivery counter for small goods and bins
to hold many packages. The first floor is now being used as a bulk store, and
bales, bags, cases and crates containing the many commodities used in the
business are neatly packed. The top-floor is divided into several departments, the
tinsmith’s room, 30ft x 50ft, occupies nearly a third of the space; adjoining is the
packing room for small goods and in smaller rooms hops are packed and blue
and blacking manufactured.

22 “154-156 Victoria Street - Building Permit 3289.”

23 Deed 122/691, Wellington Land District. Land Information New Zealand (LINZ).

24 “Finance and Trade,” 1898.

25 Cyclopedia of New Zealand Co., The Cyclopedia of New Zealand —Wellington Provincial District
(Cyclopedia Co. Ltd, 1897), p.748.

26 Cyclopedia Company Limited, “The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Wellington Provincial District].”
27 “Local and General,” 1898.
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Another room, 20ft x 30ft, is set aside as a dining-room for the female employees
and attached to this is a lavatory. The cellar is well-ventilated, the floor being
cemented, and is devoted to the manufacture of vinegar, lime juice, cordials and
refining candied peels.

The building is fitted with a 30wt lift; there is also a complete fire service, pipes
with hose and fittings, and the two top floors are provided with fire escapes. There
is ample accommodation for every branch of the business, and every
convenience has been provided for the employees. The new building is an
adornment to Quinn Street and is certain to attract other manufacturers to build
there.?8

E.H. Crease and Son owned and occupied the building at 154 Victoria Street until
1926, when it was sold to bedding and furniture manufacturer David McCrae
Limited.?® For the next three decades this firm occupied the majority of the
building, but did lease parts to other businesses, such as printers Pearson & Co
from 1930-1932, the Bellbird Underwear Company in 1936, the Wellington
Squadron Territorial Air Force from 1938-1939 and Tatra Leather Goods
throughout the 1940s.3° The building was sold to New Zealand Carpet
Distributors Limited in 1955, which ushered in a long period of use by carpet
manufacturers such as Feltex NZ Limited (part of Feltrax International Ltd) who
held a twenty-year lease from 1979.3! Singvest Group Limited took over the
property in 1993.32 Each tenancy carried out their own alterations to suit their
needs.

Wellington’s Victoria Street Transformation project was officially held in 2015.33
The City Council incentive was to encourage growth in an area that was not seen
to be achieving its potential. The result of this development has meant that 154
Victoria Street, as well as neighbouring 95 Dixon Street, are beginning to be built
out by high-rise buildings, and they are becoming a rare group of industrial
buildings in the vicinity. As Te Aro was once a thriving industrial area, it is
important to preserve the heritage aspects that are representative of the kind of
industrial activities now rare in the Te Aro area.

28 “City Improvements.”

29 Stones Wellington, Hawkes Bay and Taranaki Directory 1899-1926; CT WN340/87.
30 Stones, 1930-1932, 1936, 1938-1939.

31 CT WN340/87.

32 |bid. Singvest purchased the building in 1993.

33 Thompson, “Five Years on: The Transformation of Victoria Street.”
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Photographs and Images

Plan of the Town of Wellington, 1840, with section 172 highlighted, Archives New Zealand.3*

34 https://www.flickr.com/photos/archivesnz/11968849753
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Wellington City Council Property Map with Thomas Ward 1891 Survey map overlaid showing part lot 1, now
154 Victoria Street.
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Thomas Ward Survey Map, Sheet 33, ¢1900, 27, Wellington City Council Archives.

Chronologies and Timelines

Timeline of events, including modifications

1898
1899
1937
1993
1994

1995
1998

1999

2000

o>+

E.H. Crease & Son purchase land on corner of Dixon and Quin
Streets.

Four-storey brick warehouse and a boiler house (Wellington
City Council Archives 3289).

Erect dangerous goods store (Wellington City Council
Archives B17005).

Office building partitions (Wellington City Council Archives
2647).

154/1 Victoria Street Office building alterations (Wellington
City Council Archives 5995).

Office alterations (Wellington City Council Archives 15222).
Kitchen alterations, level 2 and 3, (Wellington City Council
Archives 47244).

Seismic Strengthening (Wellington City Council Archives
59282).

Internal office alterations (Wellington City Council Archives
62021).
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2001

2001

2001

2002

2003

2003

2004

2006

2007

2010

2011

154 Victoria Street, September 2021

Ground floor internal office fitout (Wellington City Council
Archives 81312).

Office Fitout with kitchenette Level 1 (Wellington City Council
Archives 75936).

New wire cage/store room to basement (Wellington City
Council Archives 79881).

Reconfiguration and general refurbishment of ablutions area
on ground floor- (Wellington City Council Archives 96393).
Level 1 interior fit-out (Wellington City Council Archives
100766).

Interior fit-out — level 1 scenario communications (Wellington
City Council Archives 100205).

154 Victoria Street, Ministry of Fisheries, Office alterations,
Levels 1,5,6 and 7 Feltex House, With amendment (Wellington
City Council Archives 120621).

Office building alterations (Wellington City Council Archives
154791).

Office building alterations (Wellington City Council Archives
159676).

New skylights, kitchenette and link (Wellington City Council
Archives 222223).

Demolish and remove existing canopy and loading dock.
Construct external staircase (Wellington City Council Archives
231555).

Occupation history

1898-1926
1926-1955
1930-1932
1936
1938-1939
1940s

1955
1990s-current

o>+ B

E.H. Crease & Son, merchants

David McCrae Ltd, bedding and furniture manufacturer
Tenants Pearson & Co, printers

Tenants Bellbird Underwear Company

Tenants Wellington Squadron Territorial Air Force

Tenants Tatra Leather Goods

Building sold to New Zealand Carpet Distributors Limited
Various commercial tenants, including carpet manufacturers
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Biographies

Crease, E.H. and Son (Edin Hellard Crease and Frederick Charles Crease)3®

E.H. Crease and Son were “Importers, Manufacturers, Packers and Bottlers of
Coffees, Peppers, Spices, Essences, Peels, Oils, Sauces, Jellies, Indian
Condiments and Baking Powder” as advertised in the 1897 Cyclopedia of New
Zealand. The business was founded by Edin Hellard Crease in 1867, and the
business steadily grew and developed and became very successful.

When Edin Crease died in 1892 aged 52, his son Frederick C. Crease became
the sole proprietor.

Originally E.H Crease and Son had an office and warehouse in Old Customhouse
Street which was a two-storey wooden building. They also had a factory in
Victoria Street, another two-storey wooden building containing a slightly larger
superficial area than the warehouse. This factory housed a water-motor of eight
horse-power to drive the machinery, and included appliances for roasting,
grinding, mixing, sifting, and preparing the numerous articles.

Because of their need for more space as the business continued to grow, they
bought a section of land on corner of Dixon and Quin Street.

E.H. Crease and Son employed about twenty skilled hands in the manufacturing,
packing, labelling, receiving and delivery departments. As importers they had
regular shipments of all goods. At an early stage in the business, Mr. Crease
realized the necessity of securing regular supplies of the raw materials used at his
works. E.H. Crease and Son's trademark is the letter C in a diamond, and they
had many brands for their commaodities, the leading ones being the Duke of
Wellington and Al Brands.

Three travellers were engaged in interviewing customers across Aotearoa New
Zealand including leading merchants, storekeepers and grocers. E.H. Crease and
Son are patentees for milk and meat preservatives.3®

35 “Crease, E.H., and Son.”
36 “Crease, E.H., and Son.”
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McKay & McGregor

The architecture practice of McKay & McGregor was formed by a short-term
partnership between James Hector McKay and Rob Roy McGregor. It was active
from 1898 and dissolved “by mutual consent” in December 1900.37

James McKay was born in Scotland and moved to Australia in ¢.1884 where he
practiced as an architect until the early 1890s. He moved to Wellington by 1896
and his partnership with Rob Roy McGregor produced over 40 houses, a few
commercial buildings, and the fine timber Italianate St James’ Church in
Newtown.®® James McKay went on to form the prolific and longstanding
partnership of Crichton and McKay. Notable examples of Crichton & McKay’s
work include the Bank of New South Wales, the Bank of Australasia (how ANZ) in
Hunter Street and Customhouse Quay, the Dominion (newspaper) Building (WCC
17/317%° and New Zealand Heritage List/Rarangi Kérero Category 2, List 1358
40) and many of the later buildings at Wellington Hospital.**

Rob Roy MacGregor was born in Dunedin and trained as an architect with Robert
Arthur Lawson. He moved to Wellington by 1893 to start an architecture practice
and entered design competitions for the Ballance Memorial in Parliament
Grounds, and the Pahiatua and Palmerston North courthouses. His competition
designs had mixed results. Although his memorial to Premier John Ballance was
the winning entry, members of Parliament instead chose a statue by W.J. Helyer
set on a plinth designed by MacGregor. His courthouse designs were placed
second to Wellington architect George Stevenson, but MacGregor eventually
oversaw the construction of the Pahiatua Courthouse and Post Office in 1894. His
Downes Building (former) is listed on the WCC District Plan 16/89.24? and New
Zealand Heritage List/Rarangi Korero Category 2, List 14124%). MacGregor
remained in business in Wellington until at least 1904 when he designed the L.T
Watkins Building on the corner of Cuba and Vivian Streets. He also designed a
row of four near-identical Tinakori Road houses for Thomas Joseph McCarthy in
1903.44

37 “McKay & McGregor.”

38 |_isted on WCC District Plan 6/8 https://www.wellingtoncityheritage.org.nz/buildings/1-150/8-st-
james-church?g= and New Zealand Heritage List/Rarangi Korero (Category 2, 1423
https://www.heritage.org.nz/the-list/details/1423

39 https://www.wellingtoncityheritage.org.nz/buildings/301-450/317-dominion-building?g=

40 hitps://www.heritage.org.nz/the-list/details/1358

41 “McKay & McGregor.”

42 hitps://www.wellingtoncityheritage.org.nz/buildings/1-150/89-2-downes-building?g=

43 https://www.heritage.org.nz/the-list/details/1412

44 “McKay & McGregor.”
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Plans and Elevations

Plans of Warehouse, Quin Street, Permit 3289, 00053-3289, Wellington City Council Archives.

Plans of Warehouse, Quin Street, Permit 3289, 00053-3289, Wellington City Council Archives.
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Physical Description

Setting — geographical / physical context

Te Aro is an inner-city suburb of Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington, Aotearoa New
Zealand and has a long history of occupation and development.The harbour,
shoreline, wetlands and surrounding areas supported several settlements
including Te Aro Kainga and the Puke-ahu Pa. The area was subdivided in 1840
by the New Zealand Company’s Chief Surveyor Captain William Mein Smith, and
the acquisition of this land — most particularly the subdivision of Te Aro Kainga —
was one of many controversial actions of the New Zealand Company in
Wellington.

By the end of the nineteenth century Te Aro was a densely populated city-fringe
suburb, predominated by working class housing. By the early twentieth century,
the area was considered overcrowded, and this led in part to the popularity of the
new suburbs that soon developed with the introduction of the electric tram
network. Te Aro became more important as a transport route, and suited to
factories and light industry. Te Aro fell into decline and by at least the 1930s, had
been declared a slum and proposed for redevelopment.4®

Te Aro is noted as one of the few remaining physical examples of working-class
life and culture in Aotearoa New Zealand. It had a diverse working-class
population.#6

Buildings or structures*’

154 Victoria Street is a three-storied brick office and warehouse building with a
semi-basement. The primary elevation features five bays with paired flat arched
window heads on the symmetrical upper two levels. Terminal bays feature square
windows, wide vertical outer bands and a corbelled sill detail. The ground floor is
asymmetrical, and the main entrance is off-centre. The ground floor includes
three bays with paired flat arched windows that align vertically with the upper
levels. The two bays associated with the main entrance feature round-headed
windows and a door, accentuating the entranceway. The semi-basement creates
the building plinth, also divided into bays, that aligns with the upper levels.

The building is roofed with a substantial hipped and Dutch-gabled corrugated iron
roof and the roof itself is concealed behind parapets on all sides.

45 “5-7 Garrett Street, Te Aro Public Report.”
46 Menzies, “Progress’ v ‘Preservation’ - A History of Te Aro, Wellington.”
47 “154-156 Victoria Street Heritage Report.”
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A narrow service lane that runs along the rear of the building provides access to
the loading dock and access points. A large timber canopy spans the service lane
at the middle of the rear elevation and is supported on heavy timber posts set
close to the adjoining building.

The street facade is set on a heavy base at ground level, which contains the
openings to the basement level and is divided into five bays at the upper two
floors—the central three bays by small square pilasters that appear to be the
result of modern building strengthening work and appear on the back elevation,)
cut through the various string courses and trims that run along the facade. The
end two bays at the upper levels have been lightly modelled, as if to suggest
turrets with square pilasters surmounting a heavy cornice, with moulded corbels
framing two pairs of windows on each side. The original drawings show a heavy
parapet above each of these bays, giving a slightly castellated appearance to
each. Although it is possible these parapet elements were not originally built, it
seems more likely these elements were removed in the 1940s following the 1848
Wellington earthquake.

At the ground level, the entrance and the two windows to the right have wide
arches, each supported on pairs of square Tuscan pilaster (fan ornamental
column). The window pilasters rest on a string course, and the door pilasters
descend as quarter-round columns to a base close to the pavement. The other
windows at the ground level are deeply set in simple square-headed openings.
The eccentricity of the composition and the quirks of detail add considerable
interest to the street elevation.

The modelling only just turns the corner to the service lane; the remainder of the
side elevation and the rear elevation are completely plain, relieved only by the
deeply inset windows with projecting sills, service pipes, and, on the rear
elevation, pilasters which appear to be associated with strengthening works.

Externally, the building remains essentially in the form shown on the original
drawings, except for the modernised entrance and canopy, and some
replacement windows within the original openings. The remaining original
windows are timber. Intrusive pilaster elements on the front and rear elevations,
not shown on the original drawings, appear to be the result of modern structural
strengthening.

As this is a desktop study, the internal descriptions are reported in the 154-156
Victoria Report ¢.2003 and are as follows:*®

48 “154-156 Victoria Street Heritage Report.”
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Internally the primary post and beam structure of heavy timbers, original heavy
timber floors and trussed and sarked roof structure all remain in place, and
although the floor levels themselves have been partitioned up to suit a range of
commercial tenants, it remains possible to see a substantial amount of the
original building. The basement was not inspected.*®

Materials

* brick

 timber (?) internal columns
+ corrugated metal roof

Archaeological sites

NZAA Central City Archaeological Area R27/270.The building itself is pre-1900.

Setting — surroundings / site description

This building is on a slightly sloping, prominent corner site on Victoria Street, that
has a new landscaping area at the front, surrounded by new high-rise
development. Its immediate setting is of high importance in the local townscape;
154 Victoria Street has a further group relationship with the remaining building at
95 Dixon Street. Together these two remaining buildings clearly illustrate the
scale, uses and nature of that part of Te Aro at the turn of the last century, in stark
contrast to the modern high-rise development of the area. The buildings strongly
enhance their setting in central Te Aro.%®

The service lane permits the building’s rear elevation to be seen, an unusual
feature now in central Wellington, and one that contributes to the overall interest
of the building.>?

HNZPT Extent of List Entry
N/A

49 “154-156 Victoria Street Heritage Report.”
50 “154-156 Victoria Street Heritage Report.”
51“154-156 Victoria Street Heritage Report.”
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Comparative Analysis Summary

154 Victoria Street was part of a group of rare late nineteenth, early twentieth
century commercial buildings on the original Dixon Street, Quin Street corner. In
recent years, two out of the four buildings have been demolished, making the two
remaining — 154 Victoria Street and 95 Dixon Street more significant.

109-111 Dixon Street was part of a group of Edwardian buildings in the block of
95 Dixon Street but was demolished in 2017 and replaced with an apartment
block. It was built in 1913 for the successful Wellington firm of F. Cooper Ltd,
seedsmen, who became world leaders in seed production. The warehouse was
built by Campbell and Burke and designed by architect John Swan. It was built for
a similar function as 154 Victoria Street and was part of a group of Edwardian
commercial buildings in the area.

95 Dixon Street, although built a few years later than 154 Victoria Street, has
significant group and townscape value with 154 Victoria Street. 95 Dixon Street
has an elegant surviving facade that dates from 1905, with minor ground level
alterations in 1919. There are very few examples of this type of building left in the
city, giving it significant rarity value with 154 Victoria Street.

Jamieson Bros owned the section on the corner of Dixon and Quin Streets and
advertised the land for rent before they built a three-storied brick building on the
section that is 91-93 Dixon Street in 1907. It had many tenants over the years
including Prices Auction House and the Wellington Provincial Patriotic Council
and Combined Buyers Ltd (a New Zealand motor trade company). It was
demolished in 2018.

Evaluation Criteria

A. Historic values: these relate to the history of a place and how
it demonstrates important historical themes, events, people
or experiences.

(i) Themes: the place is associated with important themes in
history or patterns of development.

154 Victoria Street aligns with the theme of Trade and Commerce, as the warehouse
was designed as a factory and workshop during a period of economic prosperity
from the late 1890s to late 1920s. It was also a response to an increase in the
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development of land and sea trade routes. It is a rare example of a Victorian
commercial building in the area.

(i) Events: the place has an association with an important
event or events in local, regional or national history.

N/A

(ili) People: the place is associated with the life or works of an
individual, group or organisation that has made a
significant contribution to the district, region or nation

154 Victoria Street was built for E.H. Crease & Son, for their expanding business.
They were a successful long standing Wellington importers and manufacturing
business, mainly of tea and coffee. It is also associated with McKay and McGregor,
architects, who formed a short-term partnership from 1898 t01900.

(iv) Social: the place is associated with everyday experiences
from the past and contributes to our understanding of the
culture and life of the district, region or nation.

154 Victoria Street is one of a few remaining industrial buildings on the original Town
Acre 172 and has significant historic value. It was once part of a group of buildings
that included residences, commercial, hotels, and pubs as a response to an increase
in the development of land and sea trade routes. It represents a working-class area
that become gentrified and is now with few surviving remnants amongst the
subsequent development of high-rise apartment buildings. It has significant social
values as a contributor to the area’s social history and is representative of the area’s
original industrial streetscape and buildings as others have been demolished.

B. Physical values: these values relate to the physical evidence
present.

(i) Archaeological: there is potential for archaeological
investigation to contribute new or important information
about the human history of the district, region or nation.

Unknown. The site is part of the NZAA Central City Archaeological Area R27/270,
which represents the Thomas Ward survey maps of 1891. These survey maps show
earlier structures on the site. The building at 154 Victoria Street was constructed in
1899, so it is a built archaeological site itself.
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(i) Architectural: the place is notable for its style, design,
form, scale, materials, ornamentation, period,
craftsmanship or other architectural values

Although it is simple brick warehouse and office building, 154 Victoria Street is
notable for the original design of its principal fagades. Although many of its
decorative elements have been removed because of earthquakes, it remains a fine
example for its scale, period, and craftsmanship.

(i) Townscape: the place is strongly associated with other
natural or cultural features in the landscape or townscape,
and/or contributes to the heritage values of a wider
townscape or landscape setting, and/or it is a landmark.

154 Victoria Street has high group and townscape values with the nearby brick
warehouse at 95 Dixon Street.

As it sits within a landscaped public forecourt, this increases the building’s
prominence within an area of new high-rise development, making it a unique
structure within the area and a key reminder of the area’s previous
commercial/industrial use.

(iv) Groups: The place is part of a group of buildings,
structures, or sites that taken together have coherence
because of their age, history, style, scale, materials, or use.

154 Victoria Street has significant group value with the proximal 95 Dixon Street.
The overall heritage value of this group is significant as early development in this
area of Te Aro was low scale, this warehouse would have made an architectural
statement in its size and design.

(v) Surroundings: the setting or context of the place contributes
to an appreciation and understanding of its character, history
and/or development.

The overall heritage value of 154 Victoria Street and the group of buildings is
significant as it illustrates the original scale and type of development in this area of
Te Aro. The group is representative of the area’s original industrial streetscape and
buildings.

154 Victoria Street is significant as it illustrates the original scale and type of
industrial development in this area of Te Aro between the late 1890s and 1910s, the
result of improved economy and transport links.
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(vi) Scientific: The area or place has the potential to provide
scientific information about the history of the district or
region

N/A

(vii  Technological: the place provides evidence of the history
of technological development; and/or demonstrates
innovation or important methods of construction or design;
and/or contains unusual construction materials.

The new warehouse when first opened was fitted with the latest machinery for
processing practices. There was a separate area for an engine and boner for
generating steam for drying and bottle-cleaning and there were coffee and spice
mills run on motor power operated by a gas engine.

(viii) Integrity: the significant physical values of the place have
been largely unmodified. This includes the retention of
important modifications and/or additions from later
periods.

154 Victoria Street has a high level of integrity with only minor interior alterations
over the decades. Although many of its decorative elements have been removed
because of earthquakes, it remains a fine example for its scale, period, and
craftsmanship.

(ix) Age: the place is particularly old in the context of human
occupation of the Wellington region.

154 Victoria Street was built in 1899 and is one of the few remaining Victorian
buildings in the area.

C. Social values: these values relate to the meanings that a
place has for a particular community or communities.

(i) Sentiment: the place has strong or special associations
with a particular cultural group or community for spiritual,
political, social, religious, ethnic, national, symbolic or
commemorative reasons.
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N/A

i)  Recognition: the place is held in high public esteem for its
historic heritage values, or its contribution to the sense of
identity of a community, to the extent that if it was damaged
or destroyed it would cause a sense of loss.

N/A

(i) Sense of place/ continuity: the place provides evidence of
cultural or historical continuity, or contributes to a sense of
place for a community

154 Victoria Street is a surviving original industrial and commercial warehouse
building from the late 1890s which was at one time common place in Te Aro with
high integrity.

D. Tangata whenua values: the place is sacred or important to
Maori for spiritual, cultural or historical reasons.

Not assessed.

E. Rarity: the place is unique or rare within the district or region.

154 Victoria Street is rare as one of the few remaining Victorian buildings in the
area. Originally part of a group of 4 industrial buildings in the vicinity, it is one of two
that remain, the other being 95 Dixon Street.

F. Representativeness: the place is a good example of its type,
era or class it represents.

154 Victoria Street is a representative example of an 1890s commercial warehouse
in the Te Aro area.
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Recommendations

A modest building, 154 Victoria Street is rare example of a Victorian commercial
building in the Te Aro area.

It has significant historical and integrity value as an 1890s surviving industrial
building of the era. 154 Victoria Street was designed as a factory and workshop
during a period of economic prosperity from the late 1890s to late 1920s.

154 Victoria Street is one of a few remaining industrial buildings on the original
Town Acre 172 and has significant historic value. It was once part of a group of
buildings that included residences, commercial, hotels, and public bars as a
response to an increase in the development of land and sea trade routes and the
workers that serviced them. The overall heritage value of this group is significant
as early development in this area of Te Aro was low scale, this warehouse would
have made an architectural statement in its size and design.

154 Victoria Street represents a working-class area that became gentrified and is
now one of the only surviving remnants of this era amongst the subsequent
development of high-rise apartment buildings. This gives it significant social
values as itis a rare reminder of the area’s social history, and representative of
the area’s original industrial streetscape and buildings. 154 Victoria Street has
significant group value with the proximal industrial building at 95 Dixon Street.

It is recommended that this building be listed on the District Plan to conserve the
heritage value of this duo of low-rise commercial buildings. The listing should
encompass the exterior form, scale and materials of the building including the roof
and the primary structure of the building internally.

The building should be listed in conjunction with 95 Dixon Street as the greater
townscape and architectural value lies as much in the group as the individual
buildings.

Other recommendations:
N/A
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Heritage Assessment Criteria

This building has been assessed against the Evaluation Criteria and found to be
significant in the following heritage values

A: Historic values Significant
0] Themes Y
(i) Events
(i)  People Y
(iv)  Social
B: Physical values Significant
0] Archaeological Y
(i) Architectural Y
(i)  Townscape Y
(iv)  Group Y
(V) Surroundings
(vi)  Scientific
(vii)  Technological
(viii)  Integrity Y
(ix) Age Y
C: Social values Significant
(1) Sentiment
(i) Recognition
(i)  Sense of place Y
D: Tangata whenua values
E: Rarity Significant
F.: Representativeness Significant

Extent of the Place

The extent of place includes the land described as Lot 1 DP 30657, Town of
Wellington and the building known as 154 Victoria Street thereon. It should
encompass the building’s exterior form, scale, and materials.

Non-heritage fabric / exclusions
Earthquake strengthening
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Appendix 1 Comparative analysis

Place Address/ Heritage Listing | Photographs Analysis
name location/ or recognition
NZTM of significance
109 - 111 Demolished This warehouse was built in

Dixon Street | 2017. 1913 for the successful
Wellington firm of F. Cooper
Ltd, seedsmen who became
world leaders in seed
production. It was demolished
in 2017. The warehouse was
built by Campbell and Burke
and designed by architect
John Swan. Although this

building is much larger in scale

Former Dominion Breweries office building (demolished 2017), | than 95 Dixon Street, it was
Charles J Fearnley Collection, 50003-1867, Wellington City . A .
Archives. built for a similar function and
was part of a group of
Edwardian commercial

buildings in the area.

Absolutely Positively
Wellington City Council

Me Heke Ki Poneke
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Google Street View dated 2015, showing 109-11 Dixon Street,
(demolished 2017).

J""’;'_"f/.:;}‘

Excerpt from 1913 Building Permit Plan 9661 of 109-111 Dixon
Street, (demolished 2017), Wellington City Council Archives.
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95 Dixon
Street

Wellington City Council 2006.52

95 Dixon Street has an elegant
surviving facade that dates
from 1905 with alterations in
1919.There are very few
examples of this type of
building left in the city, giving it
significant rarity value. It also
has significant group and
townscape value with nearby
buildings, particularly 154-156
Victoria Street.

52 “95 Dixon Street PFG Summary Report 291020.”
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91-93 Warehouse Demolished Jamieson Bros owned the
Dixon 2018. section on the corner of Dixon
Street and Quin Streets and offered

the land for rent before they
built a three-storied brick
building to rent on the site in
1907. It had many tenants over
the years including Prices
Auction House and the
Building Plan for 91-93 Dixon Street, warehouse, 1907, Permit Wellington Provincial Patriotic
7743, Wellington City Council Archives. Council and Combined Buyers
Ltd (a New Zealand motor
trade company). It was
demolished in 2018.
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Maps.

91-93 Dixon Street, 2015, viewed from Victoria Street,
alongside 154 Victoria Street on Google Maps.
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Appendix 2 Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013

Refer to the Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013

https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-

heritage-study.pdf

B2 Trade and Commerce

B2.5 Commercial Offices

B2.5F Retail Yes, linked to
commercial importers
E.H. Crease & Son and
had various other
commercial tenants over
time.

B3.4B | Wharves A response to an

increase in the
development of land and
sea trade routes as E.H.
Crease & Son moved to
larger premises that had
been opened up for
development to continue
to increase their
business.

Absolutely Positively
Wellington City Council

Me Heke Ki Poneke


https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-heritage-study.pdf
https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-heritage-study.pdf
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Appendix 3 Supplementary images

Town Acre Map of Wellington 1841 showing section 172. In Website Wellington City Libraries. Retrieved 20th Oct 2021
14:42, from https://wellington.recollect.co.nz/nodes/view/26.

Original premises of E.H. Crease, “Canton Tea Mart”, Bond Street, c1868, PAColl-6529, Alexander Turnbull Library.
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MR. E. H. CREASE,

It becomes our painful duty to record the
death of an old and respected resident of the
city in the person of Mr. Edwin Hellard
Crense, coffee and spice merchant, who
breathed his last at his residenco in Boul-
cott-street at 20 minutes to 11 this morning.
Mr. Crease was o native of Milverton, ¥ng-
land, and arrived in the colony inthe barquo
Robert Small, 33 years ago last June. He
landed in Wellington, and with the oxcep-
tion of some trips to other parts of
Now Zealand, and also to Australia, he con-
tinned to live here up to the time of his
death. Many years ago he established the
Wellington Coffee and Spice Mills, and with
tact and energy he built up & very pros-
perous business. His eldest son, Mr, Fre-
derick Crease, was admitted into partnership
a short time ago, and will earry on the
establishment, The late Mr. Crease had
been & sufferer from chest complaint for
some considerable time, and was oceasion-
ally confined to hishouse. The bad weather
experienced during the past few weeks told
on his health severely, and last week he was
obliged to take to his bed. Dr. Collins was
unremitting in his attention, but the patient
gradually sank, death oceurring this morn-
ing, The deceased gentlonian was conscious
until the last, and passed asway surrounded
by his family. His age was 52. The
late Mr. Crease was of most unassuming
hobits,.and never took any part in public
affairs. He was one of the promoters of the
Endeavour Inlet Antimony Company, and
became a director of the mnew Company
formed to work the property. Before his
health gave way, he evinced a groat interest
in Masonic affairs, acd at one time he oceun-
pied a high position in the Waterloo Lodge.
The doceased leaves a widow and a family
of eight, a1l grown up, to mourn their loss.
His life was insured in the Government
office. The late BMMr. Crease was generally
respected, and bis death will be regretted
by very many of our readers.

154 Victoria Street, September 2021

E.H. Crease Obituary, Evening Post, Volume XLIV, Issue 27, 1 August 1892, Page 2.

Space Committee showing F.C. Crease, Wellington Industrial Exhibition, 1897, Auckland Libraries Heritage Collections
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Moggra Crease and Co, {(Limited), finding
their preaent premires in Old Customnbouso
atrant much too small for theirinvreasing trade,
havo nequired a valuable site at the cornor of
Dizen and Quin streets. The land has a
frontage of 73[t Gin to Dixon streat by 2Bt
to (Qauin street, and upon thia an extensive
four-story building is to be erected. The
plans and specifications of tho now premises
will bo ready inaday or two. Cranse and Co.
are an old established frm, and have grown
with the vity. A fow montbsagothe busingss
wag sonverted inte o joint stock concern, and
the fuct that new premisos have been fouud
neccasary is evidence of the expanding
nrharacter of the businesas.

Finance and Trade, New Zealand Times, Volume LXVIII, Issue 3607, 6 December 1898, Page 2.53

The business of Messrs, E. H. Crease
and Co (Limited) has increased to such
an extent that the present premises in
Old Custom-house-street have been
found inadequate, and the dircctors have
arranged for the construction of alarge
factory and warehouse in Dixon and
Quin streets, The premises will be four
stories high, and will be fitted with all
the latest machinery. The preparation
of the plans and specifications has been
entrusted to  Messrs. M'Kay and
M‘Gregor, who are inviting tenders for
the work. The buildings, which are to
be ecrected in four months, are to be
lighted ' by gas. '

Local and General News, Evening Post, Volume LVI, Issue 137, 7 December 1898, Page 4.

53 “Finance and Trade,” 1898.
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MeKAY AND MACGREGON,
Arelrilects,
Nationa! Clunnbers, Grey Street,
INTII'I‘E Teuders for the Treection of
- AMils, Warelhouse, &e., Quin street,
Wellington, tor I, . Crease and Son.,
Limited.

Tenders close 17th December, at noon.
04

Advertisements, New Zealand Times, Volume LXVIII, Issue 3608, 7 December 1898, Page 1.

LOT 2.

THAT VBRY VALUABLE COR-
NER FREEHOLD BUSINESS
SITE, havimg a frontage of 74ft
in to Dixon street and 80ft to
Ouin street, on which is erected a

- S8hop and Dwelling of Four Wooms,
alsp cottags of IFFour Rooms.

Lixon street is rapidly Dbecoming the
preat manufacturing centre of the City.
This Seetion should epmmand a special
price. Nothing is more eertain (Lan
tlris—that o large yonrly increase is tak-
ing place in Dixon sfreet, and that this
aite, for a Great Man facl:urmg Busi-
uess, has no superiors. ?

TFurther details on a.pphcatlau to THI]
ATC’I’IDNEFRS 861

Sale advertisement describing Dixon Street area as a “great manufacturing centre of the city” New Zealand Times,
Volume LXXV, Issue 5130, 24 November 1903, Page 8

QSS\EASE 25
) (¢)
& LIMITED %
COFFEE AND SPICE MERCHANTS
‘ &
44,0 o‘?f
M4 NUFRGY - ¢
TELEGRAPHIC AOORESS CRERSE
JeLEPHONE NP /%6
POBox Y ;

A B C Coor vsko.

Letterhead from EH Crease & Son, 1903, Ref 0023-1903/61, Wellington City Council Archives.
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Carparking on Sturdee Street, Wellington showing 154 Victoria Street on the right, May 1959, EP/1959/1587-F, PA-
Group-00287: Evening Post, Alexander Turnbull Library.

S i

View of street construction on Sturdee Street, Wellington showing 154 Victoria Street on the right, December 1959,
EP/1959/4114-F, PA-Group-00287: Evening Post, Alexander Turnbull Library.
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Sturdee Streetcar parking around a central street divider full of cars parked both sides, bordered by warehouses,
Wellington City showing 154 Victoria Street on the right, 1960, EP/1960/1856-F, PA-Group-00287: Evening Post,
Alexander Turnbull Library.
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Workmen creating a car park on a cleared building site, Sturdee Street, showing 154 Victoria Street centre left, 1959,
EP/1959/3030-F, PA-Group-0614-1: Evening Post, Alexander Turnbull Library.
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Appendix 4 Records(s) of title

Deeds Index Town of Wellington, Volume 12, Folio 219, Archives NZ.
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